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Before the court are two petitions filed pursuant to 28 U.S.C. j 2255 by Aaron Eugene

Woods (t$Woods''), in connection with two separate federal criminal cases. Woods, who

proceeds pro se, challenges the validity of his confinement pursuant to the judgments of this

court convicting him, in one case, of knowingly making a false statement regarding his status as

a felon in the attempted purchase of a firearm and, in the other case, of using fire to com mit m ail

and wire fraud. After the government filed motions to dismiss each of the petitions, W oods

responded, making the m atter ripe for disposition. For the reasons that follow, the court

concludes that the governm ent's motions must be granted.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDUR AL BACK GROUND

As mentioned above, W oods' petitions arise from two separate criminal cases. In Case

Number 7:09-c1--00043 (tt7:09-cr-00043''), a grand jury retunwd a four-count indictment on July

16, 2009, charging W oods with various tireann-related counts, including making a false

statement in connection with the attempted purchase of a tirenrm, in violation of 18 U.S.C. j

922(a)(6) (2006). ln Case Number 7:09-cr-00064 (iû7:09-cr-00064''), a grandjury returned a

twelve-count indictm ent on October 22, 2009, charging W oods, and two co-defendants, with



various felonies in connection with an arson, including using fire to commit a felony, in violation

1 The facts relevant to the instant petitions are set forth below .
2of 18 U.S.C. j 844(h).

1. 7:09-cr-00043

ln a December 29, 2009 email transmitted by an Assistant United States Attorney

(ûtAUSA'') to W oods' attorney, Stephen Wills (;;Wi11s'') the AUSA attached a copy of a

proposed plea agreement in 7:09-cr-00064. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 103-1 at 5.) The plea

agreem ent provided for a term of incarceration of 120 months, as an agreed and binding sentence

under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 1 1(c)(1)(C). tLd= at 7.) The email mandated that, for

the attached proposed plea agreem ent to rem ain valid, W oods would have to sign it by 5:00 p.m .

on January 4, 2010. (Id. at 5.) The email also advised that, if Woods did not sign the plea

agreement, the ttnext offer will not be that 1ow,'' and furthennore, that the AUSA would consider

adding another obstruction of justice charge through a second superseding indictment. (L4z.)

Pertinent to W oods' petitions is that the attached proposed plea agreem ent contemplated W oods

pleading guilty to Count l of 7:09-cr-00064, using fire to commit a felony, in violation of 18

U.S.C. j 844(h). (Id. at 5, 7.)Neither the email nor the attached proposed plea agreement

contemplated W oods pleading guilty to any of the firearm-related charges in 7:09-cr-00043.

(Ld=) According to Woods, this omission from the plea agreement of any charges in 7:09-cr-

00043 did not seem suspicious to him because an ATF agent had previously informed him that

the government did not intend to prosecute him on the fireann-related charges based on W oods'

claim that, as explained below, he had attempted to purchase the tirearm merely as a gift for his

son. tLd= at 3.)

l A d jury returned a superseding indictment on December 10 2009 adding three counts of obstructiongran , ,
ofjustice as to Woods only.
2 The facts are summarized based primarily on the text of W oods' motions to vacate and on the
accompanying attachments.



After receiving a copy of the proposed plea agreement, W oods met with W ills on January

4, 2010 to discuss a potential guilty plea. (Id. at 1.) Based on Wills' advice, Woods signed the

plea agreement that was attached to the December 29, 2009 email, pleading guilty to Count I of

7:09-cr-00064, using fire to commit a felony.(ld. at 1, 7.) However, to Woods' surprise, Wills

visited W oods the next day, on January 5, at the Roanoke City Jail, where W oods was being

detained prior to trial. (ld. at 2.) During this visit, Wills explained to Woods that the plea

agreement that W oods had signed on the previous day had çimistakenly failed to include, or make

m ention of in any fonn, the gun charges related to the indictment in criminal case no. 7:09-cr-

00043.'' (Ld=) Wills related to Woods that the AUSA had Cdapologized for the oversight'' and had

asked W ills to tell W oods that ishe had until 12 noon on January 7th to execute the newly revised

plea agreement.'' (J#a) W ills also conveyed to W oods that the AUSA had agreed to let Woods

3choose to which tirearm-related count of 7:09-cr-00043 he would plead guilty. (J#=)

Confronted with this ultim atum , W oods questioned W ills on which of the four firearm-

related charges was the Gçlesser charge and how gitl wlouldl affect (hisj sentencing.'' (ld.)

W oods asserts that W ills responded by informing W oods that he was not fam iliar enough with

the gun statute to f'urnish W oods with a definite answer, but that he assum ed that the charge

embodied in 18 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6), making a false statement, constituted the lesser charge. (Id.)

W oods then Sdreluctantly signed the revised plea agreement, but requested that M r. W ills research

the 1aw and provide (him) with the information necessary to make an informed decision as to the

3 The modified plea agreement still provided for an agreed sentence of 120 months under Rule 1 1(c)(1)(C):
ççln exchange for my guilty pleas to Count 1 of the Indictment 7:09CR00064 (the arson indictment) and to Count 2
of Indictment 7:09CR00043 (the firearms indictment), l understand that I will receive a fixed ten (10) year sentence
of incarceration pursuant to Rule 1 l(c)(l)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.'' (7:09-cr-00043 Docket
No. 83 at 3; 7:09-c1.-00064 Docket No. 60 at 3.)



''4 Id at 2-3.) Woods alleges that W ills never provided him with an answer togun charge issue. ( .

his question regarding the dclesser charge'' contemplated by the four-count firearm indictm ent in

7:09-cr-00043. (Id. at 3.) Wills' failure to provide this infonuation to Woods was evidenced at

the change of plea hearing several days later, on January 8, 2010, when W oods halted the

hearing to ask Wills Edwhat the lessor gsic) charge was.'' (ld.)

Thereafter, on M arch 29, 2010, the court presided over the sentencing hearing in W oods'

case. The presentence investigation report prepared in contem plation of the sentencing hearing

reflected that W oods' base offense level under the United States Sentencing Guidelines for a

conviction under 18 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6), making a false statement about his status as a felon in

the attempted purchase of a fireal'm, was 14. See U.S.S.G. j 2K2. 1(a)(6) (providing for a base

offense level of 14 if the defendant Eiwas a prohibited person at the time the defendant committed

the instant offense'').However, W oods argues now that, because he attempted to purchase the

tirearm for his son as a gift, his attempted ptlrchase was for Sslawful sporting purposes'' and, thus,

his base offense level should have been reduced to 6, pursuant to U.S.S.G. j 2K2.1(b)(2). See

iés j 2K2.1(b)(2) (providing for a decrease in the base offense level to 6 if the defendant

Sdpossessed al1 ammunition and tirearms solely for lawf'ul sporting purposes or collection').

According to W oods, he questioned W ills at the sentencing hearing about whether the issue

sunounding the proper base offense level calculation would be resolved. (7209-cr-00043 Docket

No. 103-1 at 4.) Wills responded that the AUSA idwould not agree.'' (ld.) At the conclusion of

4 The final revised plea agreement contained a paragraph in which W oods executed a blanket waiver of his
right of collateral attack:

I waive any right l may have to collaterally attack, in any future proceeding, any order
issued in this matter and agree l will not file any document which seeks to disturb any such order.
I agree and understand if I file any court document seeking to distttrb, in any way, any order
imposed in my case, such action shall constitute a failure to comply with a provision of this
agreement.

(7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 83 at 6', 7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 60 at 6 (emphasis omittedl.)
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the hearing, the court sentenced W oods to 120 months on the arson conviction and 36 months on

the tirearm conviction, the two sentences to run concurrently, so as to achieve the lzo-month

sentence contemplated under the Rule 1 1(c)(1)(C) plea agreement.

Based on this series of events, Woods filed on April 5, 201 1, a 28 U.S.C. j 2255 motion

to vacate his conviction in 7:09-cr-00043, in which he advances two ineffective assistance of

counsel arguments. First, W oods avers that W ills' performance was legally deficient based on

W ills' alleged failttre to respond to W oods' question regarding the tilesser charge'' contemplated

by the four-count indictment in 7:09-cr-00043. (Id. at 3.) Woods argues that W ills' failure to

respond, coupled with the original revoked plea agreement and the associated tim e restraints

imposed by the AUSA, tladversely affected (hisl decision-making process and may have further

proved detrimentagll to his best interest with regards to his acceptance of the tinal plea

aggreement (sicl.'' (Id.) Second, W oods claims that Wills' performance was legally deficient

for allegedly failing to dispute the assignment of a base offense level of 14 to his conviction for

knowingly making a false statement about his status as a felon in the attempted purchase of a

firearm. (Id. at 4.) According to W oods, Wills' alleged failure prejudiced him because the

proper base offense level should have been 6, pursuant to the fact that W oods allegedly

attempted to purchase the fireann as a gift for his son. (L4,)

Il. 7:09-cr-00064

As explained above, W oods pled guilty to Count I of 7:09-cr-00064, using tire to comm it

a felony. In an effort to have his conviction on this charge vacated, W oods filed on April 1,

201 1, a j 2255 motion, in which he advances an ineffective assistance of counsel argument,

claiming that W ills failed to conduct research that would have revealed that W oods' guilty plea

was not supported by a proper factual basis. (7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 102-1 at 1.) More



specifically, W oods argues that the building to which he set fire lacked the necessary connection

to interstate com merce and, as such, that the arson could not have served as the basis for a

conviction under 18 U.S.C. j 844(h)(1). (Id.)

111. G overnm ent's m otions to dismiss

On June 16, 201 1, the United States moved the cottrt to dismiss each of W oods' petitions.

(7:09-cr-00043/7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 1 18.) ln support of its motions, the government

argues that W oods executed in his plea agreem ent a general waiver of his collateral-attack

5 Id at 1 ) Woods responded on October 3 201 1 to the government's motions to dismiss,rights. ( . . ,

addressing the issue of waiver, as well as the merits of his claims. (7:09-cr-00043/7:09-cr-00064

Docket No. 128.)

DISCUSSION

1.

To state a claim for relief under j 2255, a defendant must prove that one of the following

occurred: (1) his sentence was imposed in violation of the Constitution or laws of the United

Standard of review

States', (2) the court was withoutjtlrisdiction to impose such a sentence', (3) the sentence was in

excess of the maximum authorized by law; or (4) the sentence is otherwise subject to collateral

attack. 28 U.S.C. j 22554a). In a j 2255 motion, the defendant bears the btlrden of proving

grounds for a collateral attack by a preponderance of the evidence. M iller v. United States, 261

F.2d 546, 547 (4th Cir. 1958) (per curiam). Furthermore, once a defendant has waived or

exhausted his appeals, the court is tientitled to presume he stands fairly and finally convicted.''

United States v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 164 (1982). Thus, unless the petitioner alleges a

jurisdictional or constitutional enor, any asserted error--of fact or law will not provide a basis

5 I the event that the court declines to dismiss Woods' j 2255 petitions on the basis of waiver, then
govemment requests in its motions that the court grant it an opportunity to file a supplemental brief addressing the
merits of Woods' claims. (7:09-cr-00043/7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 1 18 at 1 .)
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for collateral attack unless it constitutes t(a fundamental defect which inherently results in a

complete miscaniage of justice.''United States v. Addonizio, 442 U.S. 178, 185 (1979) (internal

quotation marks and citation omitted).

W here, as here, the petition is tiled by a pro se litigant, the court must hold its pleadings

Sçto less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers.'' Haines v. Kerner, 404

U.S. 519, 520 (1972). The requirement of liberal construction does not mean, however, that the

court can ignore a clear failure in the pleading to ksallege anything that remotely suggests a

factual basis for the claim .'' W eller v. Dep't of Social Servs. for City of Balt., 901 F.2d 387, 391

(4th Cir. 1990). Similarly, çjudges are not . . . required to construct a (pro seq party's legal

arguments for him.'' Small v. Endicott, 998 F.2d 41 1, 417-18 (7th Cir. 1993). Likewise, the

court is not required to idattemptll to divine the point'' the litigant seeks to make about the

specitic facet of the crim inal proceedings that he challenges. ld. at 418.W here the petitioner's

motion, when viewed against the record, does not state a claim for relief, the court should

sllmmarily dismiss the motion. Raines v. United States, 423 F.2d 526, 529 (4th Cir. 1970).

Il. Analvsis

W aiver of çollateral-attack riEhts

As stated above, the government argues that the court should dismiss W oods' petitions

based on the fact that he executed in his plea agreement a blanket waiver of his collateral-attack

6 The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit has recognized a narrow classrights.

of claim s that fall outside of the scope of a general waiver of collateral-attack rights, nam ely

6 To the extent that W oods' petitions can be construed as alleging that the waiver of his collateral-attack
rights was not knowingly and voluntarily entered, this argument is squarely contradicted by his own swonz
statements at his Rule l 1 hearing. See Fields v. Atty. Gen. of Md., 956 F.2d 1290, 1299 (4th Cir. 1992) (tAbsent
clear and convincing evidence to the contrary, a defendant is bound by the representations he makes under oath
during a plea colloquy.''). Because Woods advances no evidence to dlscredit these statements, any argument on this
point must fail. Id.



claim s regarding complete deprivation of counsel and the imposition of a sentence in excess of

the maxim um penalty provided by statute or based on a constitutionally imperm issible factor

such as race. United States v. Lemaster, 403 F.3d 216, 220 n.2 (4th Cir. 2005); see also Waller

v. Uniyed Sfg1#-s, Civil Action No. 7:07CV00337, 2008 WL 190754, at *2 (W .D. Va. Jan. 18,

2008). ln the instant cases, Woods raises ineffective assistance of counsel claims, but does not

argue that he was Ctwholly deprived'' of counsel. Lemaster, 403 F.3d at 220 n.2 (citing United

States v. Attar, 38 F.3d 727, 732 (4th Cir. 1994:. $ûA claim that counsel was generally

ineffective does not suggest that the defendant was wholly deprived of counsel and, thus, such

claim s do not fall outside the scope of the collateral attack waiver.'' W aller, 2008 W L 190754, at

*3 (citing Lemaster, 403 F.3d at 2 19-20); P.JO United States v. Embree, 169 F. App'x 761, 762

(4th Cir. 2006) (per curinm) (concluding that a waiver of collateral-attack rights did not

encompass a defendant's claim that he was completelv deprived of counsel with respect to

appellate proceedings). Hence, because Woods does not profess that he was wholly deprived of

counsel, his ineffective assistance of counsel claim s likely fall within the scope of the general

waiver of his collateral-attack rights.E.c., United States v. Ralunan, N o. 2:03CR10084-001,

201 1 WL 6257306, at *4-5 (W .D. Va. Dec. 15, 201 1); United States v. Johnston, Criminal

Action No. 3:08-cr-00042-1, 2011 WL 21 18838, at *4 (W.D. Va. May 25, 201 1).

In any event, to the extent that W oods' ineffective assistance of counsel claims Cûbear on

the validity of the plea or the waiver itselfl,q'' and thereby fall outside of the scope of the general

8



l Braxton v. United States, 358 F. Supp. 2d 497, 502 (W .D.waiver of his collateral-attack rights,

' 1 im S il'l hiS Petitions, RS explained below, fail On the merits.BVZ. 20051, W OOY C R

2. 7:09-01*-00043

To prove a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show (1) C'that

counsel's performance was deficient,'' and (2) çtthat the deticient performance prejudiced the

defense.'' Strickland v. Washincton, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).With respect to the tirst prong,

the defendant m ust demonstrate that tscounsel made enors so serious that counsel was not

functioning as the çcounsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendmentl,j'' meaning that

counsel's performance Esfell below an objective standard of reasonableness.'' ld. at 687-88.

W hen analyzing this first prong, a court must lend great deference to counsel's representation.

J#=. at 689. With respect to the second prong, a defendant can show prejudice, when attacking a

conviction following a guilty plea, only by dem onstrating a Ssreasonable probability that, but for

counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.''

Hill v. Locltharç, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). If it becomes clear to the court that, while considering

an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the defendant cannot satisfy one prong of the

Strickland standard, the court m ay term inate its analysis there without proceeding to consider the

other prong. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

As explained above, W oods' tirst argument with respect to 7:09-cr-00043 is that W ills'

failure to furnish W oods with a response as to his question regarding the ttlesser charge''

contemplated by the indictment constituted legally deticient perfonnance that çdproved

? After determining that the defendant had executed a valid guilty plea and waiver of his j 2255 rights, the
Fourth Circuit in Lemaster addressed the defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel claims ûtonly to the extent that
they had some alleged bearing on the validity of the plea.'' United States v. Stevens, Case No. 1:08CR00015, 201 1
WL 4477310, at *2 (W.D. Va. Sept. 28, 201 1) (citing Lemaster, 403 F.3d at 222-23).
8 Although

, as mentioned above, the government sought an opportunity to brief the merits of W oods' claims
in the event that the court rejected the waiver argument, the court finds any additional briefng unnecessary for the
resolution of these claims.

9



detrimentall) to his best interest with regards to his acceptance of the final plea aggreement

gsicq.'' (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 103-1 at 3.) The coul't may summarily dispense with this

argument based on W oods' failure to show prejudice as a result of W ills' allegedly deticient

performance. W oods fails to demonstrate the existence of a reasonable probability that, but for

Wills' alleged errors, he would have rejected the plea agreement as it related to 7:09-cr-00043

and, instead, would have insisted on going to trial. Hill, 474 U.S. at 59.W oods does not dispute

the sufficiency of the governm ent's proof regarding his conviction in 7:09-cr-00043. Neither

does W oods claim that he would have persisted in pleas of not guilty to al1 of the charges in

7:09-cr-00043 and, instead, that he would have gone to trial, if W ills had reported back to him

:t1 ser charge.''g In any event
, W oods bargained for and received aregarding his question on the es

lzo-month sentence, without reference to the advisoly guideline range assigned to the firearm

charge. W oods' first argum ent is without m erit.

As stated above, Woods also argues that Wills' representation fell below an objective

standard of reasonableness when Wills allegedly failed to object to the assignment to Woods of a

base offense level of 14 regarding the tirearm conviction in 7:09-cr-00043. However, the record

retlects that, after receiving W oods' presentence investigation report in preparation for the

sentencing hearing, Wills did, in fact, raise written objections to the base offense level assigned

to W oods regarding the fireann conviction. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 91 at 28 (sealedl.) ln

any event, W oods bears the burden of proving that he was entitled to the sentencing reduction

10 U ited States v. Solomon, 274 F.3d 825 828 n.2contemplated by U.S.S.G. j 2K2.1(b)(2). n ,

9 The court also notes that all fotlr of the tirearm-related charges in the indictment--one count under 1 8
U.S.C. j 922(a)(6) and three counts under l 8 U.S.C. j gzztgltl>--can'ied maximum terms of incarceration of 10
years. 18 U.S.C. j 924(a)(2). Hence, it is unclear whether there truly was a tllesser charge.''
:0 i lates in passing another ar ument regarding U.S.S.G. j 21Q2. 1 . Specifically, Woods appearsWoods art cu j
to claim that Wills' representation was deficient ln that Wills failed to object to the application of U.S.S.G. j 2K2.4
in calculating Woods' base offense level for his conviction under 18 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6). (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No.
128 at 24-25; 7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 127 at 24-25.) lnstead, Woods argues, U.S.S.G. j 2112. 1 should have been

10



(4th Cir. 2001). Woods fails to carry his burden on this point. The fact that someone allegedly

ptlrchased a firearm  for his son as a gift does not necessarily denote that the firearm was

çç< lely for sporting purposes . . .' and no other purpose.''l 1 Id at 828 (quotingpossessed so .

U.S.S.G. j 2K2.1(b)(2)) (emphasis in originall; see also, e.c., United States v. Riley, 376 F.3d

1 160, 1 171 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (stating that the defendant must prove that the firearm was

possessed solelv for lawful sporting purposes); United States v. Miller, 224 F.3d 247, 253 (3d

Cir. 2000) (same); United States v. Mazzie, 64 F.3d 664, 1995 WL 478590, at *2 (6th Cir. 1995)

(per curiam) (unpublished table decision) (same); United States v. Gresso, 24 F.3d 879, 88 1 (7th

Cir. 1994) tsamel. Moreover, W oods' argument fails for an even more fundamental reason

which W oods himself establishes indirectly in his pleadings. The ttlawful sporting purposes''

reduction is available only to a defendant who actually Espossessed'' the ammunition or firearm s.

U.S.S.G. j 2K2.1(b)(2) (emphasis added). Woods goes to great lengths in his briefs, infra note

12, to maintain that he never possessed the firearm : ((M r. W oods did not, at any tim e control the

firearm, nor did he load the fireann, or take ownership of the tireann.''(7:09-cr-00043 Docket

No. 103 at 5.) Elsewhere, Woods strenuously maintains that he ttdid not admit to possession of a

tireanu'' and that ttthere was no evidence that he had ever constructively possessed it.'' (7:09-cr-

00043 Docket No. 128 at 21-23; 7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 127 at 21-23.) Hence, by Woods'

own implicit admission, he does not qualify for the reduction offered by U.S.S.G. j 2K2.1(b)(2).

applied in calculating his base offense level for that conviction. (ld.) However, Woods' argument is unfounded. As
the record retlects, U.S.S.G. j 2112.4 was applied to Woods onlv as to his conviction under 1 8 U.S.C. j 844(h) in the
other case, 7:09-cr-00064. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 91 at 6, 7, 25, 26 (sealedl.) Section 2K2.4 was not applied to
Woods in calculating his base offense level for his conviction in 7:09-cr-00043 under 1 8 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6).
lnstead, U.S.S.G. j 2112.1, the very guideline section that Woods claims should have been applied to him, was, in
fact, applied to him in calculating his base offense level in 7:09-cr-00043. (ld. at 7.)
1 l The court notes that W oods' pleadings could be construed liberally to advance the argument that, had he
pled guilty to l 8 U.S.C. j 922(g)(1) (knowing possession of a firearm or ammunition by one previously convicted of
a crime punishable by one year of imprisonment), instead of to j 922(a)(6), he could have received the benetk of
tçlawful sporting purposes'' sentencing reduction. lnsofar as W oods articulates this argument in his pleadings, this
contention likewise fails. The specific statutory provision to which W oods pled guilty is immaterial. lnstead, it is
the nature of the alleged purpose for which Woods attempted to possess the firearm (i.e., giving the fireann to his
son as a gih) that fails to substantiate that the srearm was possessed solelv for lawful sporting purposes.

11



Finally, the court notes that, even if W oods' argument regarding the çslawful sporting

purposes'' reduction canied weight, W oods has failed to demonstrate that he suffered any

resulting prejudice- he has not argued that, assuming the reduction applied to him, there would

have been a reasonable probability that he would have altogether rejected the plea agreement as

to 7:09-c1.-00043 and, instead, gone to trial. Hill, 474 U.S. at 59.For these reasons, W oods'

' 43 is likewise without merit.lzsecond argument concerning 7.09-cr-000

12 At various stages in his briefs, W oods articulates in passing a number of other arguments, addressed below,
as to why the court should vacate his conviction in 7:09-cr-00043. W oods argues in passing that his conviction
under 18 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6) should be vacated because he never ïtpossessledl'' the firearm. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket
No. 103 at 5; 7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. l28 at 21-23,. 7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 127 at 21-23.) However, this
argument is misplaced as the offense to which he pled guilty, 18 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6), does not require possession as
one of its elements, but instead, requires as an element the <tacquisition or attempted acquisition'' of a fireann or
ammunition. 18 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6). ln a similar vein, Woods argues that the sentence of incarceration imposed
upon him pursuant to 1 8 U.S.C. j 924(a)(2), which Iays out the punishment associated with violating certain
sections of 18 U.S.C. j 922, is i<completely improper'' because, according to Woods, j 924(a)(2) authorizes a court
to punish only a defendant who violates j 922(g)(l) through knowing possession of a firearm. (7:09-cr-00043
Docket No. 128 at 21., 7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 127 at 2 1 .) However, Woods himself exposes the flaw in this
argument. As Woods acknowledges in his filings (id.), and as the court has noted above, the knowing possession
requirement to which Woods refers relates to a conviction under j 922(g)(1), a stamtory provision under which
Woods was not convicted. Instead, Woods was convicted under j 922(a)(6), which, as stated above, does not
require any form of possession as a prerequisite for conviction.

W oods also argues in passing that he did not realize that his previous underlying conviction ûthad been
listed as a felony.'' (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 103 at 5.) However, Woods' own sworn statements at his Rule 1 1
hearing contradict the argument he now raises in his petition. W oods admitted at his Rule 1 1 hearing that ç1l filled
out the report and falsely signed a document that said I had not been convicted of a felony.'' (7:09-cr-00043/7:09-cr-
00064 Docket No. 1 18-2 at 37.) Aher being asked by the court later in the hearing whether he contested that he had
been convicted of a felony at an earlier time, Woods responded, EûNo.'' (ld. at 55.) To the extent that Woods argues
that he tçdid not believe that his prior Florida conviction made him unable to purchase a firearm,'' this contention is
irrelevant. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 128 at 22., 7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 127 at 22.) The crime to which he pled
guilty required that he knowingly make a false statement in connection with the acquisition or attempted acquisition
of a firearm. l 8 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6). As just explained, Woods admitted during his change of plea hearing that he
falsely represented that he had not been convicted of a felony during the attempted purchase of a tirearm. Even if
W oods believed that this prior felony conviction did not render him unable to purchase a fireann, he nonetheless still
admittedly made a false statement concerning his status as a felon and, by so doing, violated the statute.

In yet another attempt to overturn his conviction in 7:09-cr-00043, W oods mentions in passing a search
warrant that was executed at his home on January 22, 2009. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 128 at 9-10'y 7:09-cr-00064
Docket No. 127 at 9-10.) Woods argues that neither the search warrant nor the supporting affidavit içdescribeldj
any firearms to support a filing in connection with case number 7:09CR00043.'' (Id. at 10.) Woods seemingly
argues that because neither the search warrant nor the supporting affidavit described any firearms, any weapons
discovered during the execution of the search warrant could not properly serve as the basis for his prosecution in
7:09-cr-00043 under either 18 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6) or (g)(1). Woods also ostensibly faults W ills and his previous
attorney for failing to file, or to advise W oods to file, a motion to suppress any fireal'ms confiscated during the
execution of the search warrant. (Id.) However, Woods' argument on this point demonstrates his confusion as to
the factual basis for his prosecution in 7:09-cr-00043. The firearm at issue in 7:09-cr-00043 was not recovered
during the execution of a search warrant at his home; rather, the fireann at issue in the case, as stated in the
indictment, was the <:22 caliber Glenfield semi-automatic ritle, M odel 60, serial number 20420436'' that W oods
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7:09-:r-00064

As explained above, W oods also seeks to overturn his conviction in 7:09-cr-00064,

claiming that W ills failed to conduct research that would have revealed that the building to

which he set fire lacked the necessary connection to interstate comm erce. Thus, W oods

contends, his conviction under 18 U.S.C. j 844(h)(1) offends the Constitution.

Section 844(h)(1) of Title 18, the statutory provision to which Woods pled guilty,

criminalizes the act of itusgingl fire or an explosive to commit any felony which may be

prosecuted in a court of the United States.'' 18 U.S.C. j 844(h)(1). Thus, based on the express

language of the statute, iûj 844(h)'s jurisdictional nexus is derived from the underlying felony,

which must be one that ûmay be prosecuted in a court of the United States.''' United States v.

McAuliffe, 490 F.3d 526, 536 (6th Cir. 2007) (quoting United States v. Creech, 408 F.3d 264,

267 (5th Cir. 2005)). The underlying felonies at issue here were mail and wire fraud. W oods

does not contend that the federal statutes criminalizing mail and wire fraud were enacted in

violation of Congress' Commerce Clause power. Hence, because both of the underlying felonies

handled and attempted to purchase from Vinton Pawn Shop on December 23 and 29, 2008. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket
No. 9 at 1-3.) Furthermore, to the extent that Woods refers to the ammunition that was recovered from his home
during the execution of the search warrant, and which fonned the basis for Count IV of the indictment, the record
retlects, and W oods does not dispute, that the ofticers obtained a separate search warrant to seize the ammunition.
(7:09-cr-00043/7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 1 18-2 at 40.)

Finally, Woods also seeks vacation of his conviction under 18 U.S.C. j 922(a)(6) based on the
circumstances, recounted above, surrounding the initial revoked plea agreement and the time restraints imposed by
the AUSA. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 103-1 at 3.) Woods argues in passing that these circumstances, coupled
with Wills' allegedly deficient performance, adversely affected his decision to accept the final plea agreement. (ld.)
Any attempt by W oods to claim that his guilty pleas were not entered voluntarily is flatly beaten by his own sworn
statements at the Rule 1 1 hearing, in which he stated that he was pleading guilty because he in fact was guilty, ççthat
he had not been coerced, that he was pleading guilty voluntarily, that he was aware of a1l of the consequences of his
guilty plea, and that he was entirely satisfied with the services provided by his attorney.'' United States v. M ixson,
Criminal Action No. 7:08CR00043, Civil Action No. 7:10CV80222, 2010 WL 2520995, at *7 (W.D. Va. June 21,
2010); see United States v. Ubakanma, 215 F.3d 42 l , 425 (4th Cir. 2000) (determining that the defendant's
conclusory claims that he was misinformed or pressured into pleading guilty contradicted his sworn statements at
the Rule 1 l hearing); see also Lemaster, 403 F.3d at 22 1-22 (tçlljn the absence of extraordinary
circumstances, . . . . the truth of sworn statements made during a Rule 1 1 colloquy is conclusively established, and a
district court should, without holding an evidentiary hearing, dismiss any j 2255 motion that necessarily relies on
allegations that contradict the sworn statements.'' (internal citations omittedl); Fields, 956 F.2d at 1299 CtAbsent
clear and convincing evidence to the contrary, a defendant is bound by the representations he makes under oath
during a plea colloquy.'').

13



are felonies that ttmay be prosecuted in a court of the United States,'' 18 U.S.C. j 844(h)(1),

thereby satisfying the necessary jurisdictional nexus, Woods' conviction under the statute was

13 liffe 490 F.3d at 536 (concluding that a conviction under 18not unconstitutional. See McAu ,

U.S.C. j 844(h)(1) did not offend the Constitution because the underlying felony, mail fraud,

supplied the requisite connection to interstate commercel; Creech, 408 F.3d at 267 (same).

Therefore, because no am ount of research would have altered the fact that W oods' conviction

under 18 U.S.C. j 844(h)(1) did not violate the Constitution, Woods fails to prove either

constitutionally deficient performance by W ills or prejudice in his ineffective assistance of
14counsel claim regarding 7:09-cr-00064.

'3 W oods' reliance on Jones v. United States, 529 U.S. 848 (2000), United States v. Carr, 271 F.3d 172 (4th
Cir. 2001), United States v. Ramev, 24 F.3d 602 (4th Cir. 1994), and similar cases, is misplaced. These cases stand
for the proposition that arson of an owner-occupied private residence cannot provide the basis for a conviction under
l 8 U.S.C. j 844(i), because the residence fails to supply the required connection to interstate commerce. However,
these cases lend no support to Woods' argument regarding his conviction under l 8 U.S.C. j 844(h), a completely
different provision in the statute that, as discussed above, derives its jurisdictional nexus through the underlying
felony, which must be one that Gtmay be prosecuted in a court of the United States.'' 18 U.S.C. j 844(h)(1).
14 W  ds challenges his conviction under 18 U .S.C. j 844(h) from another angle by articulating two relatedoo
arguments. First, W oods claims that he was not named as a defendant in the counts in the 7:09-cr-00064 indictment
related to the mail and wire fraud crimes, which represented the underlying felonies that were effectuated through
the arson. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 128 at l6; 7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 127 at 16.) However, the very
indictment to which W oods refers undercuts this argument- counts V-lX of the indictment represent the mail and
wire fraud charges and Woods is named as a defendant in each of the colmts. (7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 5 at 8-14)
Docket No. 42 at 8-14.)

Second, W oods contends that he was not a party to the conversations between his co-defendants concerning
the fraudulent scheme that was the object of the arson, and that he did not accept any insurance proceeds gained as a
result of the arson. (7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 102-1 at 2-3) 7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 128 at 16-17; 7:09-cr-
00064 Docket No. 127 at 16-17.) Although Woods' claims on these two points might technically be true, his own
statements at the Rule 1 1 hearing manifest that he understood that his co-defendants' pum ose in setting fire to their
home was to obtain insurance proceeds. (7:09-cr-00043/7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 1 1 8-2 at 54-55.) The transcript
of the hearing retlects:

M r. W ills: l think, my understanding is you understood they were burning the house
down for monetary gain, to get the instlrance ftmds somewhere down the line.

The Defendant'. l think l understood, yes, that that was their end result, yes.
The Court: They werenhtjust-
The Defendant'. For their gain, yes, absolutely.
The Court: - burning it down to have an exciting evening; they expected to get

something out of it?
The Defendant: Yes.
The Court: And you understood that?
The Defendant: Yes, Your Honor.
The Court: And you participated with that understanding?
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4.

In his response to the government's m otions to dism iss, W oods also claims that W ills'

Challenze to handlina of two separate cases in consolidated fashion

performance was legally deficient because W ills failed to Ctask for separate trials'' in the two

criminal cases. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket No. 128 at 12; 7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 127 at 12.)

W oods further claim s that his constitutional rights were violated by having a single attorney

represent him in two separate crim inal cases and by resolving both cases through a single plea

agreement. (ld.) lnitially, the record undercuts Woods' argument about W ills' alleged failure to

request separate trials in the two cases. The record reflects that both cases originally were

scheduled for separatejury trials. (7:09-cr-00043 Docket Nos. 36, 41, 54, 78, 80,. 7:09-cr-00064

Docket Nos. 30, 31.)ln fact, it was W oods, through counsel, who moved the court to

consolidate the two cases for pumoses of trial, citing as reasons judicial economy, the existence

of common witnesses between both cases, possible benefits at sentencing, and the provision to

counsel of additional preparation time. (7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 49.)

Furtherm ore, there is nothing per se unconstitutional or, for that m atter, improper, about a

single attorney representing a criminal defendant in two separate cases, as long as no contlict of

interest exists and as long as the applicable ethics l'ules are otherwise satisfied. Finally, W oods'

contention concem ing the single plea agreem ent utilized in the resolution of both cases is

likewise m eritless the case law illustrates that courts deal with such plea agreements without

disapproval. E.R., Cnited States v. Carson, 469 F.3d 528, 532 (6th Cir. 2006); United States v.

Johnson, 183 F.3d 1 175, 1 177 (10th Cir. 1999); United States v. Allen, 153 F.3d 1037, 1046 (9th

Cir. 1998); United States v. Russell, 2 F.3d 200, 202 (7th Cir. 1993); United States v. Jordan,

The Defendant: Yes.
The Court: And you expected to benefit financially yourselo
The Defendant: Yes.

(Id.) Hence, as the record reflects, Woods' contentions are without merit.
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Crim inal Nos. 1:06CR1 LG-RHW , 1:06Clt2 LG-RHW , 1:06CR3 LG-RH W , Civil Nos.

1:08CV148 LG, 1:08CV149 LG, 1:08CV150 LG, 2009 WL 3488686, at * 1 (S.D. Miss. Oct. 22,

2009).

5. Challenze to zuiltv pleas

Finally, Woods' j 2255 motions, constnzed liberally, also allege that his pleas of guilty

were not knowingly and voluntarily m ade. However, as mentioned above, supra note 12, dkthis

claim directly contradicts the sworn statements (Woods) made dtlring his Rule 1 1 hearing.''

United States v. Hylton, Criminal Action No. 7:08CR00050, Civil Action No. 7:1 1CV80347,

201 1 WL 5592847, at *7 (W .D. Va. Nov. 16, 201 1). As summmized earlier, W oods affirmed

dtlring his Rule 1 1 hearing that he was pleading guilty because he in fact was guilty, that he had

not been coerced, that he was pleading guilty voluntarily, that he was aware of all of the

consequences of his guilty plea, that he understood the constitutional rights that he would waive

by pleading guilty, and that he understood that he had bargained for a fixed lo-year period of

incarceration. (7:09-cr-00043/7:09-cr-00064 Docket No. 1 18-2.) Furthermore, when asked

during the hearing whether he was satistied with W ills' services in his case, W oods responded,

dçAbsolutely. lf l wasn't going to prison, 1 would recommend his services.'' (ld. at 5* 57.)

W oods has failed to identify any evidence that would çttmderm ine his prior statements

regarding the voluntariness of his guilty plea.'' Hvlton, 201 1 W L 5592847, at *7. Consequently,

W oods is bound by the statements made at his Rule 1 1 hearing. For this reason, the court is

constrained to reject his claims contradicting those statements.See Lemaster, 403 F.3d at 221-

22 (($(ljn the absence of extraordinary circumstances, . . . . the truth of sworn statements made

during a Rule 1 1 colloquy is conclusively established, and a district court should, without

holding an evidentiary hearing, dismiss any j 2255 motion that necessarily relies on allegations
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that contradict the sworn statements-'' (internal citations omittedll; Fields v. Attv. Gen. of Md.,

956 F.2d 1290, 1299 (4th Cir. 1992) CWbsent clear and convincing evidence to the contrary, a

defendant is bound by the representations he makes under oath during a plea colloquy.').

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, W oods' argum ents fail to demonstrate any constitutional enor.

Accordingly, the court will grant the government's motions to dismiss and will deny W oods'

m otions to vacate. Additionally, because W oods has failed to demonstrate $(a substantial

showing of the denial of a constitutional right,'' the court will deny a certificate of appealability.

28 U.S.C. j 22534(9.

The Clerk is directed to send certified copies of this memorandum opinion and the

accompanying order to w oods and to al1 cotm sel of record.

W day of February' 
, 2012.ENTER: This 5

Chief United States District Judge
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